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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT | ILED-EU4
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINQIS iy -, Pi 2: 5
EASTERN DIVISION

SLERK
U.S. DISTRICT COURT

RICHEY A. HARE, SR.
Plaintiff,

V.

JOHN ZITEK, individually and in his
official capacity as Chief of Police of the
Stickney Police Department, the
VILLAGE OF STICKNEY POLICE
DEPARTMENT, the VILLAGE OF
STICKNEY, a municipal corporation,
Cook County Sheriff’'s Department
Investigators SEAN GLEASON,
individually and in his official capacity,
DONNA MALLOW, individually and in
her official capacity and RICHARD
WILLIAMS, individually and his
official capacity.

JUOGE COAR

WVAARTRATE JUDGE BOBRICK

R i T T W N

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

NOW COMES the Plaintiff, RICHEY A. HARE, SR., by and through his
attorneys, Richard J. Reimer and Thomas S. Radja, of SKLODOWSKI,
PUCHALSKI & REIMER, complaining against the Defendants as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

D This action arises under the United States Constitution particularly
under the provisions of the First and Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of

the United States, and under 42 U.S.C. §1983 and §1988.
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2)  This Court has jurisdiction over this claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331
and §1343.

3) The acts complained of herein all occurred within Cook County,
Illinois. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391 (b).

4) The supplemental jurisdiction of this Court is invoked for the
prosecution of the State Law claim.

5) Plaintiff demands trial by jury for all issues which a jury trial is
available.

PARTIES

6) Plaintiff, RICHEY A. HARE, Sr. (“HARE”) is a citizen of the United
States of America and a resident of Cook County, Illinois. At all relevant times
hereto HARE, was employed as a sworn police officer for the Stickney Police
Department holding the rank of Lieutenant of Police.

7 Defendant JOHN ZITEK (“Zitek™) at all relevant times hereto, was the
duly appointed Police Chief of the Village of Stickney Police Department. Zitek is
sued individually and in his official capacity as Police Chief.

8) Defendant Village of Stickney is a municipal corporation and body
politic organized and existing under the Constitutional laws of the State of Illinois.
Pursuant to and in furtherance of its State Constitutional and Statutory powers and
authorities, the Village of Stickney maintained the Stickney Police Department as an
agency of local government charged inter alia with the maintenance of public order

and maintenance of public safety.
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9)  Defendants SEAN GLEASON, DONNA MALLOW and RICHARD
WILLIAMS are on information and belief, residents of Cook County, Illinois. At all
relevant times hereto Defendants Gleason, Mallow and Williams were employed as
sworn police officers by the Cook County Sheriff’s Department. Defendants are
served individually and in their official capacity.

FACTS

10) In May of 1999 HARE was serving as a Lieutenant of Police of the
Stickney Police Department assigned to the Investigations Division of the Police
Department.

11} Following the death of the Commander of Police, Zitek assigned
HARE to perform certain functions previously performed by the deceased
Commander. Specifically HARE was assigned to the job duties and functions of
evidence custodian.

12) Upon being assigned the duties and responsibilities of evidence
custodian, HARE performed a preliminary audit. The results of the preliminary
audit disclosed that narcotics, money and drugs were missing or unaccounted for.

13) HARE immediately notified Zitek, the Chief of Police and his
immediate supervisor as to the fact that the preliminary audit disclosed missing or
unaccounted for narcotics, money and drugs. HARE requested that Zitek authorize
an outside law enforcement agency to conduct an independent evidence room audit.
Zitek refused an outside audit and told HARE, “The Commander” was responsible

for it and it will lie with the dead man.”
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14) HARE then performed a final audit which confirmed the results of the
preliminary audit and the fact that certain evidence or recovered property was
missing or unaccounted for, including money, narcotics and guns.

15) HARE immediately notified Zitek of the results of the final audit who
ordered HARE to “let it go.” Zitek told HARE “not to make an issue out of it,” that
“that’s where it lies, with the dead man.”

16) In October of 1999, Zitek promoted HARE to the position of
Commander. HARE'’s duties besides being evidence custodian included, but were
not limited to, conducting criminal investigations, and scheduling and coordinating
Stickney Police Officers' off duty security details.

17) In that capacity and under the order of Zitek, HARE was sent to
Chicago Motor Speedway and Hawthorne Race Track to collect payment from the
services performed by off-duty Stickney Police Officers for security, traffic control
and parking enforcement. In one instance HARE received a check in the amount of
approximately $4000 payable to the Village of Stickney.

18) HARE delivered this check to Zitek who endorsed the check and
mstructed HARE to go the Village Treasurer, Dora Madsen, and have the check
cashed. When the Treasurer did not have sufficient funds to cash the check, Zitek
told HARE to go to Cicero State Bank, and see a “friend” of Zitek’s who would cash
the check. HARE went to Cicero State Bank spoke to Zitek’s “friend,” who cashed

the check and gave the currency to HARE.,
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19) HARE delivered the currency to Zitek in an envelope. Zitek put
cutrency in envelopes containing police officers’ names that had worked the off-duty
security details. When Zitek was done, Zitek offered HARE a “bonus” from the
currency left over.

20) The event occurred on at least one other occasion, and each time
HARE refused to accept any currency from Zitek. HARE found it unusual that
Zitek would offer him money in that manner.

21)  On or about July 17, 2000, HARE learned that a Police Department
civilian radio dispatcher had been forging his signature via computer to obtain
unauthorized criminal history information from the Police Department
L.E.A.D.S./N.C.I.C. system. HARE reported this to Zitek who refused to terminate
the dispatcher. Zitek and HARE got into an argument over this dispatcher. HARE
stated that he would arrest the dispatcher for her conduct, and Zitek told HARE that
he would have to arrest him first. Zitek ended the argument by telling HARE he
would go to “the Mayor.”

22)  Onthat same date, HARE was ordered to report to Zitek’s office. When
he arrived at Zitek’s office, present were Zitek, Stickney Village President Donald
Tabor and Stickney Village Trustee James Dolezal. HARE informed Tabor and
Dolezal about the illegal and criminal use of L.E.A.D.S./N.C.I.C. system by the
dispatcher, about the missing or unaccounted for money, narcotics and property
from the evidence room and that HARE believed that there was other corruption

within the Police Department including but not limited to money being stolen from
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parking ticket fines, prostitution sting arrests, cannabis ordinance fines and
fingerprint money from IRS applicants.

23) Shortly after this meeting Zitek disbanded the Detective Division and
reassigned HARE to the Patrol Division on a rotating shift basis working different
day off groups.

24)  On or about August 16, 2000, HARE and other Stickney Police Officers
went to the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office, Special Prosecutions Public
Integrity Unit and reported what they believed to be corruption in the Stickney
Police Department and Village of Stickney. The Cook County State’s Attorney’s
office began a grand jury investigation into those allegations. HARE and other
Stickney Police Officers began cooperating with the State’s Attorney’s office and
assisted in the investigation.

25)  Assistant State’s Attorney Karen Stratton, assigned to the case, issued a
number of grand jury subpoenas to Stickney Police Officers including HARE.

26)  On or about October 27, 2000 HARE received a grand jury subpoena
compelling HARFE's testimony before a Cook County Grand Jury on October 30,
2000. HARE learned that the Village had retained its law firm to represent other
Stickney Police Officers that received grand. jury subpoenas except for HARE.

27)  On October 30, 2000 HARE testified before the Grand Jury as to his
knowledge of what he believed to be corruption in the Stickney Police Department

and the Defendants were aware of HARE’s appearance before the Grand Jury.
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28) On December 6, 2000, HARE was serving as Patrol Division Shift
Commander when a female resident of Stickney reported to the Stickney Police
Department that she had been the Victim of an attempted abduction/attempted
sexual assault. As Shift Commander, HARE immediately began conducting a
criminal investigation, including the assignment of other Stickney Police Officers to
investigate the crime in an attempt to identify and apprehend the offender.

29)  Zitek, upon learning of the crime and investigation being conducted by
HARE, ordered HARE to cease the investigation. Zitek stated that the victim’s
brothers had both been in the penitentiary and had some drug and legal problems
and that the family didn’t “warrant that type of investigation.” The crime was never
properly investigated and the offender was never apprehended.

30) On April 12, 2001, the female victim of the attempted abduction came
to the Stickney Police Department and spoke to HARE. The female victim advised
HARE that she had been contacted by Zitek who had offered to provide her and her
two children with presents in exchange for filing a sexual assault comﬁlaint against
HARE. The female victim further advised that three Cook County Sheriff’s Officers
had been harassing both her and the victim’s mother at her house and place of
employment.

31) The following week, Defendants, Cook County Sheriff’s Police Officers
Gleason, Mallon and Williams came to the Stickney Police Department and began
interviewing Stickney Police Officers in an attempt to obtain evidence against

HARE, for allegedly sexually assaulting the female victim.
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32) HARE Ilater took the female victim to the State’s Attorney’s office and
her testimony was presented to the Grand Jury.

33) On May 17, 2001 while on duty at the Stickney Police Department,
HARE, Defendants Gleason, Mallon and Williams came to the Police Department
to interview all Stickney Police Officers assigned to HARE’S shift. The Defendants
refused to inform HARE as to the nature of their attempted investigation, nor did
they question him regarding these allegations.

34) As a result of the acts of the Defendants, HARE has been unable to
continue his regular employment with the Stickney Police Department, and as a
result, on September 17, 2001 HARE was awarded a line of duty disability pension

by the Stickney Police Pension Board, on the basis of a psychological disability.

COUNT L
FIRST AMENDMENT VIOLATIONS
PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. §1983
35)  Plaintiff realleges and asserts the allegations contained in paragraphs (1)

through (34) set forth above, as paragraph (1) through (34) of Count I of his

Complaint.
36) HARE'’s statements to Mayor Tabor and Trustee Dolezal concerning
alleged corruption in the Stickney Police Department and the Village of Stickney

were matters of public concern,
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37) HARE’s testimony to the Cook County Grand Jury concerning alleged
corruption in the Stickney Police Department and the Village of Stickney were
matters of public concern.

38) HARE is a victim of retaliation by the Defendants for his speaking out
to Village Officials and the Cook County Grand Jury concerning alleged corruption
in the Stickney Police Department and Village of Stickney, for speaking out as to
these matters of public concern.

39) As a direct result of HARE’s speaking out regarding matters of public
concern, the Defendants engaged in a campaign of harassment, intimidation and
retaliation directed at HARE and his supporters.

40) The custom practice and policy of the Defendant Village of Stickney is
to retaliate against any employees who report supposed corruption. The acts of
retaliation, include but not limited to the following:

A) Demoting HARE from his position as Chief of Detectives.

B)  Assigning HARE to unstable rotating hours of work and days
off.

C) Initiating false and baseless charges and allegations against
HARE and causing the Cook County Sheriff's Department to
investigate these false and baseless charges.

D)  Harassing and intimidating civilians in an attempt to have these

civilians file false criminal complaints against HARE.



Case 1:02-cv-03973 Document 1 Filed 06/04/2002 Page 10 of 14

E)

F)

G)

H)

D

/-\ R ,/_\

Falsely alleging that evidence under HARE'’s custody and control
was missing.

Failing to provide HARE with legal representation prior to his
grand jury testimony while providing all other Stickney Police
Officers with representation.

Attempting to intervene in HARE’s disability hearing proceeding
in an attempt to preclude the Stickney Police Pension Board from
according HARE disability pension benefits.

Retaliating against members of the Stickney Police Pension
Board who voted to award HARE a line of duty disability
pension by abruptly terminating the son of one of the Pension
Board members.

Termination of long time members of the Stickney Police
Department who supported HARE for no reason.

Interfering with the operations of the Stickney Police Pension
Fund in attempt to reverse the decision of the Pension Board

awarding HARE a line of duty disability pension.

41)  The false, malicious and retaliatory acts of the Defendants have resulted

in extreme humiliation and embarrassment to HARE and have diminished his

reputation in the community.

10
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42)  The acts of the Defendants have resulted in the denial or loss of salary
and other benefits, other economic damages and severe emotional pain, suffering
and distress.

Wherefore, Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered against all of the
Defendants, jointly and severably, for compensatory damages in a fair and
reasonable amount, for punitive damages, for interest on Plaintiff’s compensatory
damages, at a rate set by law, for Plaintiff’s costs; including Attorney’s fees and for
such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
COUNT II.
CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 42 U.S.E. §1983

43)  Plaintiff realleges and reasserts the allegations continued in paragraphs
(1) through (42) of Count I of his Complaint as paragraphs (1) through (42) of his
Complaint.

44)  The Defendants knew that the allegations against HARE alleging any
claimed sexual assault were false. With that knowledge, Defendant’s nevertheless
knowingly and voluntarily agreed to continue to investigate HARE. Defendants did
so knowingly and voluntarily, having agreed or reached a mutual understanding with
Zitek, Tabor and or Gleason, Mallon and Williams to commit acts in an effort to
support the false allegations against HARE, as part of a pattern of retaliation against
HARE for his speaking out on matters of public concern and cooperating with the
Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office and HARE'S testimony before the Cook

County Grand Jury.

11
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coconspirators, to violate HARE'’S rights guaranteed to HARE under the First
Amendment. As a result of that Complaint, HARE has sustained injuries.
Wherefore, Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered against all of the
Defendants, jointly and severably, for compensatory damages in a fair and
reasonable amount, for punitive damages, for interest on Plaintiff's compensatory
damages, at a rate set by law, for Plaintiff’s costs; including Attorney’s fees and for

such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,
SKLO PUCHALSKI & REIMER

By: ol ==
Richard J. Reimer
One of the Attorneys for Plaintiff

Richard J. Reimer

Sklodowski, Puchalski & Reimer
111 West Washington, Suite 1000
Chicago, Illinois 60602

(312) 332-4428
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